STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

**RECEIVED**  
**May 14 2025**  
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Anderson County

Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JESSE DEWITT OSBORNE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001596

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

WANDA H. CARTER  
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I.

The family court judge erred in granting the state's request to waive appellant's case from Family Court to General Sessions Court because there was insufficient evidence presented per the factors listed in Kent v. United States<sup>2</sup> to order the transfer of the case.

### II.

The circuit court judge erred in sentencing appellant to life imprisonment because this violated the cruel and unusual punishment clause of the Eighth Amendment to the extent that a sentence of life was disproportionate to the offenses charged in light of appellant's juvenility and characteristics associated with his youth and the circumstances of the case.

### III.

The family court judge erred in allowing appellant's statement (and video) into evidence during the Kent hearing because said statement was given involuntarily in the case.

---

<sup>2</sup> 383 U.S. 541 (1966).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Jesse Osborne was served with juvenile petitions dated September 29, 2016, and October 3, 2016, from the Anderson County Family Court charging him with three counts of attempted murder, two counts of murder, and five counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. On October 6, 2016, the state filed a motion to transfer appellant's case to General Sessions Court. A transfer hearing was convened on February 12-16, 2018, at the Anderson County Family Court before Judge Edgar H. Long. Attorneys David Wagner, Catherine Huey, Stephanie Looper, Lauren Price, and Scott McElhannon appeared at the hearing on behalf of the state, and Attorneys Frank Eppes and Rame L. Campbell appeared at the hearing on behalf of appellant. At the close of the hearing, Judge Long granted the state's motion to transfer appellant's case from Family Court to General Sessions Court.

On December 12, 2018, appellant pled guilty to two counts of murder and three counts of attempted murder at the Anderson County General Sessions Court before Judge R. Lawton McIntosh. Solicitor David R. Wagner and Attorney Frank L. Eppes appeared at the guilty plea proceeding. A sentencing hearing was held on November 12, 2019, at the Anderson County General Sessions Court before Judge McIntosh. Solicitor David Wagner and Assistant Solicitors Lauren Price and Catherine Huey appeared on behalf of the state at the sentencing hearing, and Attorneys Frank Eppes and Rame L. Campbell appeared on behalf of appellant. Appellant was sentenced to life imprisonment on both murder convictions and thirty years on the attempted murder convictions. A sentencing reconsideration hearing was held on May 22, 2023, at the Anderson County General Sessions Court before Judge McIntosh. On September 22, 2023, Judge McIntosh issued an amended sentence of seventy-five years imprisonment on both murder convictions. Appellant appealed. This brief follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

S.C. Code Ann. 63-19-1210 (Supp 2005) authorizes the Family Court to determine whether it is appropriate to transfer the case of a juvenile charged with murder to General Sessions Court. The appellate court will affirm a transfer order unless the Family Court abused its discretion in the matter. Sanders v. State, 281 S.C. 53, 314 S.E.2d 319 (1984); State v. Wright, 269 S.C. 414; 237 S.E.2d 764 (1977).

When considering whether a sentence violates the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment in juvenile cases, the appellate court's standard of review extends only to the correctness of errors of law. Therefore, the appellate court will not disturb a circuit court's findings absent a manifest abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's findings are based on an error of law or grounded in factual conclusions without evidentiary support. State v. Mack, 441 S.C. 526, 894 S.E.2d 800 (2023).

On appeal, the conclusion of the trial judge as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be reversed unless it is so erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion. State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 471 S.E.2d 689 (1996). When reviewing a trial judge's ruling concerning the voluntariness of a statement, the appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001).

## QUESTION I

The family court judge erred in granting the state's request to waive appellant's case from Family Court to General Sessions Court because there was insufficient evidence presented per the factors listed in Kent v. United States<sup>3</sup> to order the transfer of the case.

On September 28, 2016, appellant shot his father at their home. Immediately thereafter, appellant drove his father's truck to Townville Elementary School where he fired shots near the back of the school building. Jeffrey Osborne, who was appellant's father, died at the scene. At the school, student Jacob Hall was fatally wounded from a gunshot wound, and a teacher and two other students who were at the school were injured from the gunfire. R. 35, l. 19 – p. 41, l. 5; R. 51, l. 17 – p. 55, l. 21; R.165, l. 8 – p. 174, l. 23; R. 246, l. 4 – p. 253, l. 11; R. 223, l.9 – p. 234, l.25. Appellant's case was transferred from Family Court to General Sessions Court.

Per the holding in Kent v. United States, 383 U.S. 541 (1966), a family court judge must consider the following factors when deciding whether to waive jurisdiction over a juvenile:

- 1.) The seriousness of the alleged offense;
- 2.) Whether the alleged offense was committed in an aggressive, violent, premeditated or willful manner;
- 3.) Whether the alleged offense was against persons or against property;
- 4.) The prosecutive merit of the complaint;
- 5.) The desirability of trial and disposition of the entire offense in one court;
- 6.) The sophistication and maturity of the juvenile as determined by consideration of his home, environmental situation, emotional attitude, and pattern of living;
- 7.) The record and previous history of the juvenile, including previous contacts with law enforcement agencies, juvenile courts and other jurisdictions, prior periods of probation, or prior commitments to juvenile institutions; and

---

<sup>3</sup> 383 U.S. 541 (1966).

- 8.) The prospects for adequate protection of the public and the likelihood of reasonable rehabilitation of the juvenile (if he is found to have committed the alleged offense) by use of procedures, services and facilities currently available.

Prior to the transfer hearing, appellant was evaluated by six medical professionals: 1.) Dr. Danielle Atkinson; 2.) Dr. Mark Wagner; 3.) Dr. James Ballenger; 4.) Dr. Ernest Martin; 5.) Dr. Julian Sharman; and 6.) Dr. George Jones. Based on the facts of the case and the medical opinions given, it was clear that per the Kent factors as applied in this case, there was insufficient evidence to support the family court judge's waiver of appellant's case from Family Court to General Sessions Court for judicial adjudication.

**1.) THE SERIOUS OF THE ALLEGED OFFENSE**

Appellant was charged on the offenses of attempted murder (3 counts) and murder (two counts).

**2.) THE AGGRESSIVENESS, VIOLENT, PREMEDITATIVE OR WILLFUL NATURE OF THE COMMISSION OF THE ALLEGED OFFENSE**

Appellant's mental state would have negated and nullified willfulness to commit the crimes.

**3.) THE OFFENSE ALLEGATIONS WERE AGAINST PERSONS OR PROPERTY**

The charges filed against appellant involved offenses against people.

**4.) THE PROSPECTIVE MERIT OF THE CHARGES**

Appellant had various mental and neuropsychological brain defects in his defense that would have thwarted the state's ability to prove the charges against him beyond a reasonable doubt.

**5.) THE DESIRABILITY OF A TRIAL AND DISPOSITION IN ONE COURT.**

Appellant did not object to the adjudication and sentencing in Family Court.

**6.) THE SOPHISTICATION AND MATURITY OF THE JUVENILE AS DETERMINED BY CONSIDERATION OF HIS HOME, ENVIRONMENT SITUATION, EMOTIONAL ATTITUDE, AND PATTERN OF LIVING.**

## **SOPHISTIFICATION OF APPELLANT AS A JUVENILE**

Clearly, appellant was unsophisticated. Appellant was in effect 13 years old at the time of the shootings. Technically, appellant was only 20 days in after turning age 14 years old when the shootings occurred. Appellant showed average to above average intelligence compared to his age peers based on examinations conducted by Dr. Atkinson and Dr. Ballenger. R. 592, lines 1-3; R. 587, lines 13-16; R. 600, l. 24 – p. 601, l. 1. Regarding brain development, Dr. Atkinson and Dr. Ballenger both testified that a juvenile brain is not fully developed at age 14 with respect to the comprehension of his or her actions and consequences. R. 1004, l. 8 – p. 1005, l. 12. Dr. Atkinson testified that between the ages of 12 and 15 there is drastic brain development that goes on in juveniles, and that there is poor impulse control between the ages of 12 and 13 whereas they are unable to control emotions that flood their brains during that time. Dr. Atkinson explained that between the ages of 12 and 13 it is common for juveniles to go from being very angry to being very distraught, and also at that age there is very little executive functioning, which would be the discipline and ability to manage control of their behaviors and/or foresee the consequences of their actions. Dr. Atkinson added that the brain does not fully develop until age 25 for males, and that an unstable home life and lack of relationships with friends, both of which appellant experienced, would further reduce brain function. R. 620, l. 8 – p. 623, l. 5.

In addition, Dr. Atkinson stated that juveniles are very susceptible to peer influences, and that negative peer influences cause juveniles to act impulsively, particularly if there is isolation in a juvenile's life. R. 627, l. 3 – p. 631, l. 18. Furthermore, it is common for juveniles to listen to rap music that would tend to glorify violence, and in effect be influenced by it according to Dr. Atkinson's research. R. 629, l. 19 – p. 630, l. 10. Note that simulated computer games of

violence and shootings, which appellant watched, have been deemed detrimental to juveniles because juveniles are impressionable also according to Dr. Atkinson. R. 634, l. 1 – p. 635, l. 3; R. 635, l. 13-16. Dr. Atkinson concluded that appellant was immature and influenced by his internet friends and peers who were members of an on-line rainbow group that espoused violence and killings through shootings and killings, and that appellant's regular communications with this negative group of on-line peers resulted in cynical thoughts that penetrated his mind because he was isolated and lacked no other social contacts. R. 655, lines 1-6.

Dr. Martin testified that appellant was very immature. Dr. Martin stated that between the ages of 13-15, the brains of juveniles begin to develop and mature, and that juveniles are in myelination at that time, which is a process of anatomic physiologic development wherein they are in the process of simply growing up. R. 1037, lines 18-19; R. 1047, lines 8-22; R. 1054, lines 8-25. Dr. Martin explained that showing no sign of remorse is explainable because juveniles are not fully mature enough to process fully such an emotion. R. 1059, lines 7-15; R. 1074, lines 14-19. With respect to remorse, Dr. Atkinson found that appellant showed some verbal remorse for the killings, but did not understand the impact of his actions or the seriousness of his actions. R. 592, lines 7-19; R. 593, lines 22-24; R. 599, lines 16-19.

Dr. Wagner testified that poor judgment is typical of juveniles, and that a juvenile might have a plan, but that such a plan would usually go awry or flat. R. 854, lines 12-15; R. 1004, l. 8 – p. 1005, l. 12. This was consistent with Dr. Atkinson's testimony regarding a juvenile's inability to conduct tasks involving executive functioning, and that this shortcoming is a typical juvenile characteristic.

## APPELLANT'S HOME LIFE

Appellant's home life was violent, chaotic, abusive (physically, verbally, and mentally), and completely unstable. Appellant was adjudicated delinquent for bringing weapons to school (hatchet and axe) in March 2016. R. 650, lines 20-22; R. 648, lines 19-22. Appellant was sent to DJJ, and then placed on probation and sent home on August 9, 2016. R. 550, lines 3-4. Appellant was home schooled after he was released from DJJ, and during that time he remained isolated in his dungeon of a room located downstairs at the basement of the house. It was there in that dark room where appellant remained daily, which resulted in countless hours of time spent on the internet with negative peers associated with the rainbow group. Appellant's confinement to his room was a strategy to avoid contact with his abusive father, but the hiding also created loneliness, isolation and too much internet contact with the rainbow group. R. 856, lines 17-21; R. 590, l. 12 – p. 591; l. 3; R. 856, l. 22 – p. 857, l.4; R. 1035, lines 13-14. Appellant would spend consecutive days (up 3 days at a time) alone in his room sans sunlight, and he was denied food by his father during that time also.

Dr. Atkinson testified that appellant revealed that his father was physically and verbally abusive toward him in the past (physical abuse was used a form of discipline) and that his father was drinking on the day of the shootings. R. 574, lines 9-25. There was a report of appellant's father previously hitting him with a baseball bat and hitting him in the chest. R. 575, lines 16-23. In addition, appellant reported that his father pushed him down the stairs intentionally during his intoxicated state on the day of the shootings. R. 575, l. 24 – p. 576, l. 3. Note that witnesses indicated that appellant's father was not drinking alcohol on the morning of the shootings; but after the father picked up his check on that that day, he was despondent over the amount of the check, and the inference was that he did drink alcohol on that morning in question. R. 644, lines

10-19. Atkinson concluded that appellant experienced social isolation, depression, anxiety, difficulty with reality, and possible paranoia while on home detention after his DJJ incarceration. R. 582, lines 1-7; R. 590, lines 13-14; R. 590, lines 15-24; R. 583, lines 3-11. Consequently, it appeared to Dr. Atkinson that appellant blamed his father's abusive treatment and his negative and violent on-line friends (rainbow group) for his bad behavior on the day in question. R. 593, lines 11-18.

In addition, Dr. Atkinson testified that appellant's unstable family life included abuse from his (appellant's) father toward his wife, who was appellant's mother. R. 595, lines 23-25; R. 619, l 22 – p. 620, l.3. Appellant's mother reported that the physical discipline appellant's father inflicted upon appellant was excessive, and that the beatings appellant received from his father would leave marks on his (appellant's) body. Appellant's mother added that appellant's father called appellant names like faggot and fatty regularly, but that she was too overwhelmed by the physical abuse she suffered from appellant's father to challenge him. R. 616, lines 21- p. 618, l.8; R. 645, lines 5-11. Appellant knew that his mother had contacted a divorce attorney, which was mature information for appellant to have processed in addition to the turmoil he experienced at the family home. R. 671, l. 1 – p. 672, l. 2.

Appellant's grandfather, who was appellant's father's father, admitted that appellant's father was a drunk. R. 618, lines 15-18. When appellant's grandfather arrived at the crime scene on the day in question, he stated that appellant "did not have a home life and that his (appellant's) parents stayed drunk and that he (appellant) stayed in his room." R. 60, lines 10-25. It was common knowledge that appellant's father used alcohol excessively, which contributed to problems in their home. R. 618, lines 11-25. Abuse in that household was so egregious and extreme that appellant's half-brother, who was also abused by appellant's father also, left the

household when he went off to college in Texas in 2015 and never returned. Unfortunately, when appellant's half-brother departed, the father's abuse was turned full force and solely on appellant. R. 639, l. 18 - p. 640, l. 25. Appellant's father's daughter stopped visiting, cut ties with the father, and never returned to that household. R. 645, lines 2-4. DSS was called out to appellant's home in response to a report filed by appellant's half-brother because of the abuse perpetrated upon them by appellant's father. R. 570, l. 14 – p. 571, l. 5.

Appellant told Dr. Martin that after he returned home from DJJ, his father's abuse against him worsened physically and verbally in part because his father drank alcohol a lot. Appellant's father threatened to harm his pet rabbit, which was appellant's only source of happiness. R. 1035, l. 22 – p. 1036, l. 13. Dr. Ballenger stated that the discipline appellant received from his father was too harsh. R. 950, lines 1-2. Dr. Atkinson stated that the unsteady and unstable home environment that appellant experienced precluded any measure of support for the juvenile. R. 671, l. 7 – p. 672, l. 2.

### **APPELLANT'S EMOTIONAL SITUATION**

Appellant reported to Dr. Atkinson that he had been bullied at school. R. 568, lines 5-8. Appellant's grandfather stated that appellant was transferred to West Oak because of the bullying he experienced at his prior school. R. 60, lines 20-25. However, the bullying continued at the new school (West Oak) as well. R. 626, lines 9-25; R. 568, lines 5-13. The bullying was so intense there that a conference was held at the school to address the issue, but nothing changed and the school bullying increased and escalated to dangerous levels. R. 945, l. 20 – p. 946, l. 2; R. 1000, l. 24 – p. 1001, l. 25. Appellant told Dr. Martin that he had been beaten by the bullies at school, and that the bullying problem never improved. R. 1034, lines 2-17; R. 1083, l. 22 – p. 1084, l. 4; R. 1096, lines 2-19. Appellant reported that he hated his life. R. 313, l. 22 – p. 314, l.

3. Note that appellant was an easy target for bullying at school as he stood 6 feet and weighed 142 pounds at that time. R. 1046, lines 17-22. Appellant had been routinely excluded socially and rejected for many years at school. R. 624, l. lines 3-9. Note further that counselors finally realized that the bullying appellant received at school was severe and underreported. R. 1104, lines 1-9. Appellant had absences from school due to sicknesses that occurred because of the stress of the incessant bullying he endured at school. The total impact of appellant's tortuous situation at school and the family dysfunction where he was completely terrorized and brutalized at home created a life that was clearly too stressful and overwhelming for appellant him to endure. R. 1099, lines 15- p. 1101, l.8.

Note that appellant's father's ownership of a poultry farm contributed to appellant's dejected emotional existence as well. Appellant's father assigned appellant the duty of killing sick chickens (usually manually with his hands), which Dr. Atkinson concluded could not have been a normal situation for appellant. R. 647, lines 19- p. 648, l. 4. The state made much of that fact that appellant watched a video of kittens being killed, (R. 660, lines 1-5), but appellant was assigned the job of killing chickens on his father's farm so therefore activities involving killings seemed commonplace to him. Also, some brain diseases such as meningitis, encephalitis, and conjunctivitis have been associated with exposure to chickens on poultry farms. Appellant was exposed to this. R. 880 l. 7 – p. 883, l. 4.

Appellant told Dr. Martin that he did feel sorry about what happened, and that he would think about the shootings. R. 1037, lines 16-22; 1052, l. 13 – p. 1053, l.6.

Dr. Sharman saw appellant twice in March 2016 after he was expelled from school. Appellant told Dr. Sharman that he had been bullied in school, and that he had no choice in effect other than to deal with the problem on his own, and that he had taken a hatchet and axe to

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