**RECEIVED**

**Apr 14 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Anderson County  
The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2023-001596

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT

v.

JESSE DEWITT OSBORNE,

APPELLANT

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TOMMY EVANS, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

MICAH E. BLACK  
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit  
P.O. Box 8002  
Anderson, South Carolina 29622

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

Although Mr. Osborne had a tough upbringing, clearly impacted on him, there are other people out there who have had tough upbringing. They have alcoholic parents, they have abusive parents, or they have a combination.

This was a heinous murder or murders. If it had stopped with your dad, we may have a different situation here. I don't know. I'm not saying that dad's a bad person. But when he drank obviously, he had a propensity for violence and abuse.

But wherever peer pressure may have led to your decision to go out and shoot up this school, do the things you did, you did them. And you planned them. Quite frankly, reading the social media posts, I can't tell whether you were leading that group or they were leading you. You were certainly the first one out of the chutes to go do this. You certainly were the one, although cut and paste, Mr. Eppes pointed out, the information about pipe bombs.

Sadly, and who knows what difference it would have made, while you needed to have counseling, you and your granddad are out there throwing these pipe bombs or Drano bombs out there and shooting automatic weapons. I hunt, I fish, I understand guns. I don't see anything wrong with you shooting guns. I see the impropriety here or what's wrong here is that your parents, your mother and your dad, who's no longer with us let you down in that they didn't get you the help that may have made a difference. May not. Because, quite frankly, that was just a few short months before you engaged in horrific acts involved in this case. So we're all familiar with the actions or the facts surrounding these murders.

As to his fourth factor, the incompleteness associated with youth, there's certainly no evidence he hasn't been able to help his attorneys in this matter, to assist his attorneys. And while it might have been – while it may not have been the best of decisions to waive the *Miranda* and speak to law enforcement at the time he did, quite frankly, I don't think necessarily it would have made much of a difference. The overwhelming evidence in this case was that he was guilty. But when he decided to talk to law enforcement, he did so very articulately. He was able to engage with his questioners and the people who was speaking with him, and I saw no signs of any incompetencies in that regard.

With that being said, I want to point out to law enforcement, that concerns me to a great deal, the fact that this gentleman had a lawyer requested for him and y'all refused. I know you had a right to. If that comes before me, one of the factors under *Jackson v. Denno* is isolating a child from its parents. That is a real concern.

In this case Mr. Osborne was sophisticated enough to engage in symptom magnification or fabrication. He looked up different ailments, tried to act as if he had those. He knew from the start that that's what he was going to have to do. I feel comfortable he manipulated the facts in this case. Quite frankly, when he was – outside evidence where he was bullied and he reported that bullying at West-Oak. It's clear. However, that expanded to bullying going on back at Townville Elementary, and I have seen – other than his statements in that regard, I've seen nothing about that. I heard something about it from his grandfather today. But if you look at his school records, that doesn't seem to be indicative of any such thing going on.

The reason I say that is that Mr. Osborne has been smart enough and clever enough to manipulate the facts if it suits him and provides him with a defense in this case. I certainly agree with the finding that he's more sophisticated socially than most, although he has an average intelligence, he might be a somewhat of a social outcast because of the fact that you were by yourself and essentially a loner.

I tell you, quite frankly, one of the things that stands out the most to me is your lack of remorse. That is a great concern. Dr. Maddox says that she feels like it is likely the result of him suppressing his emotions and dealing with those, and at some point he will. Again, that's going to require outside or private counseling inside the Department of Corrections that nobody can count on.

I, quite frankly, don't think that, under those circumstances, Mr. Osborne will be rehabilitated. Not because he can't be, but I don't think that he will be. On the other hand, if Drs. Ballenger and Wagner are right he can't be.” (R. p. 1828 l. 13 – p. 1836 l. 9)

At the end the sentencing judge gave the Appellant a sentence of life without parole. However, this later changed to a seventy-five-year sentence. It is clear that the above referenced remarks reveal not only the amount of work and seriousness that the court took prior to sentencing, but that he followed all of the *Aiken* factors prior to making the final sentencing decision. There exists no error in how the court sentenced the Appellant. The decision of the court should be upheld.

- 3. The statement given by the Appellant was given after his *Miranda* rights were read to him, and he stated he understood the Family Court did not err in allowing Appellant's statement into evidence during the waiver hearing.**

### Relevant Facts

During the Waiver hearing a *Jackson v. Denno* hearing was held regarding statements and the confession made by the Appellant upon being arrested. During this hearing Deputy Ronald Wood of the Anderson County Sheriff's Department testified. Deputy Wood was one of the first people to arrive at the crime scene. He took the Appellant into custody and placed him in the back of his police cruiser. When the Appellant was in the police vehicle Deputy Wood testified that he made an excited utterance. Deputy Wood testified that the Appellant told him, "No, I know I killed my father," "A good thing my gun jammed or I would have killed more," (R. p. 55 l. 14-18) This was stated by the Appellant on his own. He was never questioned by Deputy Wood. (R. p. 55 l. 10-12).

Also testifying during the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing was Agent Aleta Bollinger of the FBI. Agent Bollinger was the supervisor of the Greenville/Spartanburg field office. She was present with Deputy Tracy Call when he read the Appellant his *Miranda* rights. Agent Bollinger testified that Appellant told them he could read and write, and he was asked to initial the advice of rights form. (R. p. 68 l. 7-25). Agent Bollinger testified that during the reading of his *Miranda* rights the Appellant told them " I just want to get this over with." It was then explained to him that he did not have to talk, he told them he understood and signed the advice of rights form. (R. p. 70 l. 11-18). The Appellant then gave a full confession that was also videotaped. The written and videotaped confession was made a part of the record and viewed by the Family Court Judge. At the conclusion of this hearing the family court judge made the following ruling:

"The *Jackson v. Denno* decision is the fundamental issue here today and in order for the Court to admit the confession, the Court must determine two things: (1) whether the alleged confession was given voluntarily; (2) whether it complies with *Miranda*.

I will address the second factor first. This was clearly a custodial interrogation where the juvenile was in police custody at the time the confession was elicited. I do find that the sheriff's office, as well as the FBI agent, clearly complied with the

portions of *Miranda* as far as the warnings to be given, the admonitions regarding the same. And so, I do find that that prong of the statute has been met and did comply with the *Miranda* warnings as required under *Jackson v. Denno* ruling.

The second issue, that of voluntariness requires, as Mr. Eppes correctly stated, a review of the totality of the circumstances and the seminal case on the factors to consider in the totality of the circumstances were set forth in the *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte* case and they listed a number of factors: whether there was any police coercion; the length of the interrogation; its location; its continuity; the defendant's maturity, education, physical condition and mental health; and the failure of any police to advise the defendant of his right to remain silent and to have counsel present during the custodial interrogation.

As previously stated, the police clearly complied with the last two provisions of that ruling that the defendant did have a right to remain silent and to have counsel present during the custodial interrogation.

Now, the 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment right to remain silent has, in my personal opinion, been applied in certain circumstances that I considered harsh and in some cases in a highly technical manner. This is the present case law as I understand it. It doesn't necessarily apply in this case, but I'm just making a comment that this 5<sup>th</sup> amendment right against self-incrimination has been applied in certain cases where I felt it was a very technical ruling. That is just a comment on the present state of the law.

As Mr. Eppes correctly pointed out, North Carolina has taken steps of passing law that requires that parents or an attorney be present during questioning. In addition, in one of the cases that I read, Justice Pleicones, in his dissent advocated for a firm rule based upon public policy that anyone fourteen or under has an absolute right to have an attorney or parent present. However, the legislature has seen fit not to act upon that and there are no cases decided by the appellate court that require that to be in place. Indeed, many of the cases which I just read clearly state that age, in and of itself, is not sufficient basis to declare that a statement was given involuntarily.

So having stated that, I do find that based on the totality of the circumstances, I do find the statement was voluntarily given and I do find that it does comply with the *Miranda* decision and I will, therefore, rule that the confession will be admitted into evidence in the case in chief and later on." (R. p. 155 l. 1 – p. 157 l. 6).

### Standard of Review

The admission or exclusion of evidence falls within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion, which occurs when the trial

court's decision is based on an error of law or upon factual findings that are without evidentiary support. *State v. McEachern*, 399 S.C. 125, 136-37, 731 S.E.2d 604, 609-10 (Ct. App. 2012)

When this Court reviews a trial court's admission of a defendant's statement as knowing, intelligent and voluntary, this Court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence. *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001). For an improperly admitted statement to warrant reversal, the statement's introduction must have prejudiced the defendant. *State v. Easler*, 327 S.C. 121, 129, 489 S.E.2d 617, 621-622 (1997), *overruled on other grounds by*, *State v. Greene*, 423 S.C. 263, 814 S.E.2d 496 (2018). A minor has the capacity to make a voluntary confession... without the presence or consent of counsel or other responsible adult, and the admissibility of such a confession depends not on his age alone but on a combination of factors with such other circumstances as his intelligence, education, experience, and ability to comprehend the meaning and effect of his statement. *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 566, 647 S.E.2d 144, 164-65 (2007), *citing*, *Jenkins v. State*, 265 S.E. 295, 300, 217 S.E.2d 719, 722 (1975).

### Discussion

A statement obtained from custodial interrogation is inadmissible unless the suspect was advised of and voluntarily waived his or her rights under *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966). "If a suspect is advised of his *Miranda* rights, but chooses to make a statement, the burden is on the State to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that his rights were voluntarily waived." *State v. Arrowood*, 375 S.C. 359, 366-67, 652 S.E.2d 438, 442 (Ct. App. 2007). "If admitted, the jury must then determine whether the statement was given freely and voluntarily beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Parker*, 381 S.C. 68, 74, 671 S.E.2d 619, 622 (Ct. App. 2008).

A voluntary waiver need not be express. Rather, “(1) the waiver must be ‘voluntary in the sense that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception and (2) the waiver must be ‘made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.’” *State v. Moses*, 390 S.C. 502, 513, 702 S.E.2d 395, 401 (2010) (quoting *Berghuis v. Thompkins*, 560 U.S. 370, 382, 130 S.Ct. 2250, 2260 (2010)). “In South Carolina, the test for determining whether a defendant’s confession was given freely, knowingly, and voluntarily focuses upon whether the defendant’s will was overborne by the totality of the circumstances surrounding the confession.” *Id.* “Coercive police activity is a necessary predicate to finding a statement is not voluntary.” *State v. Miller*, 375 S.C. 370, 386, 652 S.E.2d 444, 452 (Ct. App. 2007). “Coercion is determined from the perspective of the suspect.” *Id.* (citing *Illinois v. Perkins*, 496 U.S. 292, 110 S.Ct. 2394 (1990)).

The “[d]etermination of whether a statement is involuntary [also] ‘requires more than a mere color-matching of cases.’” *Mincey v. Arizona*, 437 U.S. 385, 401, 98 S. Ct. 2408, 2418 (1978) (quoting *Reck v. Pate*, 367 U.S. 433, 442, 81 S.Ct. 1541, 1547 (1961)). “[E]ach case requires careful scrutiny of all the surrounding circumstances.” *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 647 S.E.2d 144 (2007). The factors to be considered are frequently examined and broadly defined. The defendant’s “background, experience, and conduct” are relevant, as are the circumstances creating the environment in which the statement is made: the length of the interrogation; its location; its continuity; the defendant’s maturity; education; physical condition; and mental health.” *State v. Miller*, 375 S.C. at 385, 652 S.E.2d at 452 (quoting *Withrow v. Williams*, 507 U.S. 680, 113 S.Ct. 1745 (1993) (collecting cases)).

The initial statement made by the Appellant to Deputy Wood is definitionally admissible due to his excited utterance which is an exception to the Hearsay rule.<sup>5</sup> The other statements made by the Appellant while in police custody were definitely admissible. He was given his *Miranda* rights in which he verbally stated he understood, he actually wanted to give a confession to “get this over with.” There is no evidence that he was denied food, sleep or the ability to go to the bathroom if he asked. The fact he was a juvenile is not a determination of whether or not a statement should be admissible. When the only evidence presented is the young age of the appellant, this alone is not probative or coercion. *In re Tracy B.*, 391 S.C. 51, 67, 704 S.E.2d 71, 79 (Ct. App. 2010). The evidence presented during the *Jackson v. Denno* totally displayed that the confession was not coerced it was freely given so it was admissible.

The Respondent also argues that even if the court erred in allowing this statement into evidence it would not have any effect on the final result so any error should be considered harmless. Although the Respondent is not conceding this argument, there was overwhelming evidence against the Appellant revealing that he committed this heinous crime. So, the decision to waive this up to General Sessions Court did not hinge on the fact he confessed. There was other evidence that when the *Kent* factors were applied, the Family Court judged to waive it up to General Sessions Court. This confession had no bearing on the final result so any possible error should be considered harmless. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *State v. Simmons*, 423 S.C. 552, 566, 816 S.E.2d 566, 573 (2018).

When there is overwhelming evidence of guilt as in the present case a confession being improperly admitted can be considered harmless. In some cases, the properly admitted evidence

---

<sup>5</sup> A statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under stress or excitement caused by the event or condition. Rule 803(2), SCRE.

of guilt is so overwhelming, ... it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the improper use of the admission was harmless error. *State v. Henson*, 407 S.C. 154, 167, 754 S.E.2d 508, 515 (2014), quoting, *Schneble v. Florida*, 405 U.S. 427, 430, 92 S.Ct. 1056, (1972).

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